RECEIVED

Apr 29 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marth M. Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002089

Barry Lanham and Obvia Gamble-Lanham,..... Appellants,

v.

Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG f/k/a Kelzenberg + Co.:
GmbH & Co. KG and Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG,..... Defendants,

of which Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG f/k/a
Kelzenberg + Co.: GmbH & Co. KG is the Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

John E. Parker
John E. Parker, Jr.
PARKER LAW GROUP, LLP
Post Office Box 487
Hampton, SC 29924
Phone: (803) 903-1781
jparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com
jayparker@parkerlawgroupsc.com

AND

INTRODUCTION

When a South Carolina citizen suffers a permanent, disabling injury while using a defective product manufactured by a foreign corporation and marketed for sale and use within this State, who should bear the costs associated with that individual's medical expenses, lost wages, loss of earning capacity, pain, loss of enjoyment of life, and mental anguish? Should it be the individual, regardless of his financial status, family circumstances, and means to support himself in the future? Should our worker's compensation legislation be used as an insurance policy by foreign corporate manufacturers when their defective products injure workers in an industrial setting? Or should a foreign corporation that has financially benefited and continues to benefit from the development and sale of the defective product, which is in the best position to assess the risks of that product and take remedial and

anticipatory measures to mitigate those risks, shoulder those costs? The public policy of this State provides the answers to these questions.

In modern times, our General Assembly has made a conscious choice to place South Carolina “in the vanguard of consumer protection.” *Lane v. Trenholm Building Co.*, 267 S.C. 497, 504, 229 S.E.2d 728, 731 (1976). By adopting the comments to the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 402A as demonstrative of our public policy with regards to defective products, and by codifying the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code, the General Assembly has strongly signaled that it is the public policy of this State to provide the “maximum protection” to users of defective products. *Reynolds v. Ryland Grp., Inc.*, 340 S.C. 331, 338, 531 S.E.2d 917, 921 (2000). It follows that the ultimate answer to the questions posited above would almost certainly be that any foreign manufacturer who has benefited in some way from the in-state sale and distribution of defective products, and the development of an in-state market for those products, should bear at least some portion of the costs of any resulting harm.

But what if the foreign corporation is not the entity which designed and manufactured the product, and instead is a successor which has purchased the assets of the manufacturing entity? What if the successor did not just purchase a few random assets of the predecessor in piecemeal fashion to assimilate into its own distinct business, but purchased the predecessor’s physical plant and machinery and continues to use those instrumentalities to produce similar if not identical products? What if it continued to employ the same workforce, trained by the predecessor, after

the sale? What if it uses the same trademarks, same logo, and same business name? What if it represents to the public that it is the exact same company as its predecessor with the intent of benefiting from brand continuity, goodwill, reputation, and customer relationships that were developed by the predecessor, including all other benefits, tangible and intangible, derived from the development and sale of the defective product that injured the South Carolina citizen. What then?

South Carolina precedent and public policy within the products liability context again strongly indicate that if the successor takes the benefit of those assets in what is essentially a *de facto* grant of the predecessor's franchise, then it should also take the burdens. However, under the Supreme Court of South Carolina's most recent decisions touching upon these questions, the analysis of whether a successor corporation is a continuation of its predecessor, such that it should be deemed to have assumed the predecessor's *tort* liabilities, has been cabined to a single, bright-line inquiry that relies solely on corporate formalities and not tort principles or any meaningful economic analysis. In short, under the current law, if a successor continuing the business of a predecessor does not have the same shareholders, directors, and officers as a dissolved predecessor corporation, then the cost of injury must be solely borne by the injured party.¹

The reasoning behind requiring a commonality of ownership and control, i.e., preservation of the corporate form, for liability to attach appears rather arbitrary when considering the economic philosophies underlying strict product liability

¹ Or if the injured party happens to be working at the time of his injuries, as is the case here, the cost will also be partially borne by our worker's compensation scheme.

theory, as it does not account for any evidence that the successor corporation has financially benefited from the predecessor's goodwill, brand recognition, customer relations, previous sales of defective products, and employee workforce in acquiring its assets and continuing its business. While those benefits may be irrelevant to successor liability within the corporate transactional or contract law context, which places a premium on evidence of the continued corporate form through retained ownership and control, within the context of products liability, those benefits are directly relevant to a determination of who can anticipate and bear the costs associated with a product defect.

When a corporation has benefited from the development and sale of defective products within this State, the costs of any physical harm caused by those products should be allocated to that entity, whether it is a predecessor or successor entity, because those entities are in the best position to assess the risks and mitigate the costs by bargaining for a better purchase price, purchasing insurance, spreading the costs amongst their customers, or taking remedial measures to minimize the risks. Otherwise, the goal of South Carolina's stated public policy and products liability law, which is to protect the end users of defective products, is easily thwarted by corporate practices that place form over substance, sidestep the traditional corporate successor liability rules, and maximize the benefits gained by a foreign successor corporation while eliminating the accompanying burdens, all at the expense of South Carolina citizens.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant Barry Lanham no longer has a left arm below his elbow. While cleaning an industrial fabric finishing machine at his employer's textile factory, Lanham's left hand was pulled between two heated rollers used to compress fabric under high heat and intense pressure. The machine lacked interlocking gates or other guarding that would have made it physically impossible for a user to be exposed to the nip point created by the two rollers. Lanham's arm was caught between the rollers of the machine, which only have a roll space in the range of millimeters. Lanham was partially compensated by workers' compensation insurance for his medical expenses, lost wages, and permanent impairment.

Unsurprisingly, Lanham sought to hold the manufacturer of the product that injured him, a German corporation, liable for his injuries. However, shortly after Lanham's injury, that corporation had become insolvent and its assets were sold to a successor corporation through German insolvency proceedings, which continued the business of the original manufacturer and adopted the exact same name and logo as its predecessor. On summary judgment, the circuit court essentially found that it lacked personal jurisdiction over the successor German corporation because, since it was not a successor-in-liability under the four traditional South Carolina corporate law successor liability exceptions, it could not be imputed with the jurisdictional contacts of the predecessor German corporation. Consequently, this finding would necessarily abrogate the successor corporation's liability.

The circuit court's finding did not take into account evidence in the record that the successor German corporation holds itself out to be the exact same business as its predecessor, that the successor corporation uses the predecessor's identity, trade names, and other intellectual property, that the successor manufactures substantially the same products as the predecessor, using the predecessor's employees and business name, and that the successor does so in the same commercial facility that was used by the predecessor, using the same equipment. The circuit court declined to use the successor liability test advocated by Lanham and endorsed by the dissent in *Simmons v. Mark Lift Industries, Inc.*, 366 S.C. 308, 622 S.E.2d 213 (2005), known as the continuity of enterprise doctrine, to determine if the predecessor and successor were in fact one and the same and shared jurisdictional contacts because the successor had continued on with the predecessor's business, including its trademarks, brand names, employees, premises, and other assets, unchanged.

The issues presented are:

1. **Adoption of Continuity of Enterprise Doctrine:** Whether the public policy of this State requires the application of some version of the continuity of enterprise doctrine when determining successor liability within the products liability context.
2. **Continuity of Enterprise Test:** What the appropriate test under the continuity of enterprise doctrine should be.
3. **Application of Record to the Test:** Whether the circuit court erred in granting summary judgment when there is evidence in the record supporting that

Respondent Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG f/k/a Kelzenberg + Co.: GmbH & Co. KG (“Wumag II”) purchased and continues to use its predecessor’s physical plant, machinery, workforce, equipment, software licenses, trademarks, logo, and business name, and continues to represent to the public that it and its predecessor are one and the same.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 6, 2021, Lanham and his wife, Obvia Gamble-Lanham, brought this case against “Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG”, the manufacturer of the subject machine, in the Edgefield County Court of Common Pleas, asserting causes of action for negligence, strict liability, breach of warranty, and loss of consortium under general negligence and products liability theories. (*See generally* Compl.). On January 14, 2021, “Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG” was served through the South Carolina Secretary of State, and copies of the process were then sent by international registered mail to an address in Krefeld, Germany. (Aff. of Serv.). On March 22, 2021, a party identifying itself as “Wumag” filed a motion to dismiss with the circuit court pursuant to Rules 12(b)(2), 12(b)(5), and 12(b)(6), SCRCF. (March 22, 2021 Mot. to Dismiss).

Unbeknownst to Lanham, the party he had identified and served as a defendant had not designed or manufactured the subject machine and had instead purchased the assets of that company, Defendant Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG (“Wumag I”), through insolvency proceedings in Germany on September 18, 2019, after he was injured. (*Id.* at 1; Hess Aff. ¶ 8). The entity who was served with the

complaint was formerly known as Kelzenberg + Co.: GmbH & Co. KG (“Wumag II”).² Thus, the party identifying itself as “Wumag” was in reality the successor to Defendant Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG (“Wumag I”), had changed its name to “Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG”, and had acquired “Wumag Texroll” as its business name when purchasing the assets of Wumag I. (*Id.* at ¶¶ 3, 8, 13; Wumag II Am. Answer ¶¶ 61-67; Derksen Aff. ¶ 6).

Wumag II argued that the Lanhams’ claims should be dismissed because it was not subject to personal jurisdiction in South Carolina, service was ineffective under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-245 because it did not do business in South Carolina, and because it did not design, manufacture, or sell the machine. (March 22, 2021 Mot. to Dismiss 1-2). The parties briefed the issues for the circuit court, which came up for hearing on July 18, 2022. (*See generally* Pls.’ Mem. in Opp. to Mot. to Dismiss). In a Form 4 Order, on July 21, 2022, the circuit court denied the motion without prejudice to permit discovery on the issues. (July 21, 2022 Order).

On May 2, 2023, Wumag II filed an amended answer and third-party complaint alleging an indemnity claim against Wumag I. (Wumag II Am. Answer ¶¶ 53-79). Lanham subsequently filed a motion to amend his complaint to substitute Wumag II for “Wumag” and to add Wumag I as a party. (Pls.’ Mot. to Amend). The circuit court filed a formal order granting Lanham’s motion to amend on December 19, 2023, and an amended complaint was filed on February 23, 2024. (Dec. 19, 2023 Order; Am. Compl.). The amended complaint alleges that Wumag II is the successor-in-liability

² For the sake of clarity, Wumag II is Respondent.

to Wumag I. (*Id.* at ¶ 4). Despite the fact that it is undisputedly insolvent and no longer exists, on March 25, 2024, Wumag I filed its answer to Lanham’s amended complaint, admitting that it sold the subject machine to Bondex in 2016, that it entered an asset purchase agreement with Wumag II due to insolvency, and that Wumag II subsequently adopted its brand name. (Wumag I Answer ¶¶ 3-4, 7; July 7, 2025 Hr’g Tr. 12:12-25).

On June 13, 2025, Wumag II filed a motion for summary judgment, renewing the same arguments it made in its previously filed motion to dismiss. (Mot. for Summ. J.). The motion was set for hearing by the circuit court on July 7, 2025. In the days prior to the hearing, the parties submitted memoranda in support of and in opposition to the motion. (Wumag II Mem. in Supp. of Mot. for Summ. J.; Pls.’ Mem. in Opp. to Mot. for Summ. J.). Specifically, Lanham argued that Wumag II was the successor-in-liability to Wumag I under German corporate law, which codifies what is known in the United States as the continuity of enterprise doctrine, that German law would control the issue of whether Wumag II assumed the liabilities of Wumag I, that Wumag II has its own jurisdictional contacts with South Carolina, and that the jurisdictional contacts of Wumag I would also be imputed to Wumag II. (*Id.* at 15-20). Lanham also introduced evidence demonstrating that Wumag II holds itself out to the public as being the same entity as Wumag I and publicly claims that it has continued the business operations of Wumag I. (Pls.’ Suppl. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. for Summ. J. Exs. 1, 2).

At the July 7, 2025 hearing, counsel for Wumag II argued that while the German Commercial Code did contain a statute providing for successor liability under a continuity of enterprise theory, the statute did not apply to asset purchases that were the result of insolvency proceedings, and regardless, under the doctrine of *lex loci delicti* South Carolina law would apply to determine any issues of successor liability. Wumag II argued that under South Carolina law it could not be a successor to Wumag I because the two entities did not share officers, directors, and shareholders. (July 7, 2025 Hr'g Tr. 9:22-12:7). Counsel for Lanham argued that while under a conflict of law analysis German law should apply to determine the successor liability issue, even if it did not, in prior decisions this Court had not rejected the merits of the continuity of enterprise doctrine outright. (*Id.* at 15:4-24, 16:5-20:6, 21:17-22:24).

After the hearing the circuit court granted permission for the parties to submit supplemental briefing. In his supplemental brief, Lanham conceded that after further research, South Carolina law would control the analysis of successor liability in the tort context. (Pls.' Suppl. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. for Summ. J. 1-3). Lanham argued that despite the supreme court's decision in *Brown v. American Railway Express Co.*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. 97 (1924), and its historical limitation of four narrow successor liability exceptions under corporate law, in the modern products liability context public policy would support a continuity of enterprise rule as a tort principle, relying heavily on Justice Burnett's dissent in *Simmons*. (Suppl. Mem. in Opp. to Mot. for Summ. J. 3-6).

Lanham further argued that the supreme court has not outright rejected the merits of the continuity of enterprise doctrine or addressed its public policy and economic implications within a majority opinion, that two members of the current supreme court had joined a majority opinion, *Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co. v. Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, 424 S.C. 256, 818 S.E.2d 447 (2018), noting there arguably could be merit to the continuity of enterprise theory, and that the District of South Carolina exercising diversity jurisdiction had applied the doctrine to a products liability case.³ (*Id.* at 6-7). Lastly, Lanham argued that Wumag II's conduct in using the exact same name, same logo, same manufacturing facility, same products, same equipment, same employees, and same trademarks to benefit from Wumag I's goodwill, business acumen, and trained workforce justified Wumag II's liability for the subject machine's defects, even if it did not have the same directors, officers, and shareholders as Wumag I. (*Id.* at 7-8).

On September 19, 2025, the circuit court filed an order granting summary judgment to Wumag II. In its order, the circuit court found that its analysis was solely confined to the question of whether Wumag II was a successor to Wumag I, as it was clear that Wumag I conducted business in South Carolina and its contacts would be imputed to Wumag II for the purpose of service and personal jurisdiction if Wumag II was a successor. (Sep. 19, 2025 Order 4). Analyzing the issue under South Carolina

³ The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals in an unpublished opinion has agreed with the *Nationwide* court that there may be merit to the argument that South Carolina should expand successor liability to include the continuity of enterprise doctrine. *Lane v. New Gencoat, Inc.*, No. 22-1121, 2023 U.S. App. LEXIS 8599, at *18 (4th Cir. April 11, 2023). Notably, as will be explained below, the Fourth Circuit endorses the continuity of enterprise test in CERCLA cases.

law, the circuit court declined to apply the continuity of enterprise doctrine and found that the transaction between Wumag I and Wumag II did not meet any of the *Brown* exceptions. (*Id.*).

Lanham filed a motion for reconsideration on September 24, 2025, asking the circuit court to specifically address Lanham’s tort law, public policy, cost shifting, and fairness arguments, and whether they supported application of the continuity of enterprise doctrine under the circumstances.⁴ (Sep. 24, 2025 Mot. to Alter/Amend 2-3). On September 25, 2025, the circuit court filed a Form 4 order denying Lanham’s motion to amend but certifying the summary judgment order as final as to Wumag II. (Sep. 25, 2025 Order).⁵ Lanham appealed the orders on October 10, 2025. (Not. of Appeal).

ARGUMENT

The circumstances of this case are illustrative of why the supreme court’s practice of analyzing the issue of successor liability in products liability cases under corporate law principles instead of tort principles can result in a windfall to foreign corporations while causing harm to South Carolina citizens and employers. It is undisputed that the conventional tortfeasor in this case, Wumag I, no longer exists,

⁴ Out of caution, as the order was technically an order granting partial summary judgment to some but not all of the parties, Lanham also requested that the circuit court certify the order as final pursuant to Rule 54(b), SCRPC.

⁵ Lanham filed a consecutive motion for reconsideration on September 26, 2025, asking the circuit court to include “an express determination that there is no just reason for delay” as required to certify the order as final under Rule 54(b), SCRPC. *Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc.*, 351 S.C. 459, 468, 570 S.E.2d 197, 201 (Ct. App. 2002). On October 9, 2025, the circuit court filed an order explaining its rationale for certifying the order and staying the circuit court proceedings against Wumag I during the pendency of any appeal. (Oct. 9, 2025 Order).

has gone through insolvency proceedings in Germany, and has divested itself of all assets. Wumag I financially benefited from the sale of a defective product in South Carolina and established an ongoing customer relationship within South Carolina as a result of that sale. This is undisputed.

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