RECEIVED

Jun 29 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM EDGEFIELD COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Martha M. Rivers, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2025-002089

Barry Lanham and Obvia Gamble-Lanham,Appellants,

v.

Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG f/k/a Kelzenberg + Co.
GmbH & Co. KG and Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG,Defendants.

Of which Wumag Texroll GmbH & Co. KG f/k/a
Kelzenberg + Co. GmbH & Co. KG is the.....Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Robert H. Jordan (SC Bar No.: 13612)
Email: robertjordan@parkerpoe.com
Robert C. Osborne III (SC Bar No.: 101827)
Email: robertosborne@parkerpoe.com

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

Based on these facts, the Supreme Court was tasked with the following question (among others): “In the product liability context in South Carolina, what test is employed to determine whether there is successor liability of a company which purchased the assets of an unrelated company?” *Id.* at 310, 622 S.E.2d at 214. Answering the question, the Supreme Court held that *Brown v. American Ry. Express Co.* “sets forth the proper test to determine, in a products liability action, whether there is successor liability of a company which purchases the assets of an unrelated company.” *Id.* at 312, 622 S.E.2d at 215. Thus, the Supreme Court held:

that in the absence of a statute, a successor or purchasing company ordinarily is not liable for the debts of a predecessor or selling company unless (1) there was an agreement to assume such debts, (2) the circumstances surrounding the transaction warrants a finding of a consolidation or merger of the two corporations, (3) the successor company was a mere continuation of the

⁶ In *Simmons*, the Supreme Court granted certification from the United States District Court of South Carolina to address issues of successor liability in the products liability context.

predecessor, or (4) the transaction was entered into fraudulently for the purpose of wrongfully defeating creditors' claims.

Id. (quoting *Brown*, 128 S.C. 428, 123 S.E. at 99).

Addressing Justice Burnett's dissent, which proposed some version of the continuity of enterprise doctrine, the Supreme Court wrote:

Essentially, the dissent advocates an expansion of the mere continuation exception. However, as noted by the dissent, the majority of courts interpreting the mere continuation exception have found it applicable only when there is commonality of ownership, i.e., the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or shareholders. ***We decline to extend the exception to cases in which there is no such commonality of officers, directors and shareholders.*** Further, we find no conflict with *Holloway v. John E. Smith's Sons Co.*, 432 F. Supp. 454 (D.S.C.1977). We do not find that the *Holloway* court established a new test of successor liability. Although the court in *Holloway* did not cite the test established in *Brown*, it applied the mere continuation exception. Unlike the present case in which Mark Lift and Terex did not share common officers, directors and shareholders, it appears from a reading of *Holloway* that there was, indeed, a commonality of ownership. Accordingly, the mere continuation exception was properly applied to that case.

Id. at 312 n.1, 622 S.E.2d at 215 n.1 (emphasis added). Appellants argue that the *Simmons* majority mechanically applied the *Brown* test without considering the approach proposed by Justice Burnett (and the Appellants here). That is not true. The *Simmons* majority undoubtedly considered the dissent's position. However, like most other jurisdictions, the majority declined to adopt the continuity of enterprise doctrine. *Id.* Instead, the Court held the mere continuation exception should only be applied when "there is commonality of ownership, i.e., the predecessor and successor corporations have substantially the same officers, directors, or shareholders." *Id.*

More recently, in *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*,⁷ the Supreme Court reaffirmed *Simmons*

⁷ Prior to *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, in *Walton v. Mazda of Rock Hill*, 376 S.C. 301, 307, 657 S.E.2d 67, 70 (Ct. App. 2008), *cert. denied* Oct. 8, 2008, this Court, citing *Simmons*, noted that the Supreme Court "declined to extend the mere continuation exception to situations where there is no commonality between officers, directors, and shareholders of the seller and purchaser." The

and the mere continuation exception’s requirement of commonality of officers, directors, and shareholders. 424 S.C. at 268, 818 S.E.2d at 453. In *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, an insurance company filed a contribution action against Eagle Window & Door, Inc. for allegedly defective windows manufactured by a company called Eagle & Taylor Company. *Id.* at 259, 818 S.E.2d at 449. At the time the windows were manufactured and sold, Eagle & Taylor was a wholly owned subsidiary of American Architectural Products Company. *Id.* A year later, the parent company filed for protection under the Bankruptcy Code, and substantially all of Eagle & Taylor’s assets were sold to a hedge fund. *Id.* After the assets were conveyed, the acquiring company adopted the Eagle Window & Door name. *Id.*

After the asset purchase, Eagle Window & Door engaged in substantially the same business and used the same facilities as Eagle & Taylor. *Id.* Five of Eagle & Taylor’s eight officers joined Eagle Window & Door. *Id.* at 260, 818 S.E.2d at 449. There was, however, little to no similarity of shareholders and directors. *Id.* Based on these facts, the insurer argued that Eagle Window & Door was a mere continuation of Eagle & Taylor because it retained a substantially similar name, produced the same products in the same facility, and benefited from Eagle & Taylor’s history by holding itself out as a successor entity. *Id.* at 261, 818 S.E.2d at 450. It also argued that commonality of only officers, directors, or shareholders—not all three—was required. *Id.* The circuit court and Court of Appeals agreed with the insurer. In a unanimous decision, the Supreme Court reversed both the circuit court and Court of Appeals, finding their analysis “was error, as it [fell] within the continuity of enterprise theory of successor liability that the *Simmons* majority flatly rejected.” *Id.* at 267, 818 S.E.2d at 453. The Court correctly found that *Simmons*’ holding is inescapable—the mere continuation exception does not apply when there is no commonality

Supreme Court of South Carolina denied the appellants’ petition for certiorari. *See id.*

between officers, directors, and shareholders. *Id.* at 266–68, 818 S.E.2d at 452–54. It also found that this requirement “is consistent with the traditional application of the doctrine.” *Id.* at 267, 818 S.E.2d at 453 (citing cases).

In *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, like *Simmons*, the Supreme Court addressed an argument in favor of expanding the mere continuation exception. And, once again, the Supreme Court declined to do so, writing “[w]hile some states have expanded successor liability to include enterprise continuity, the existence of these cases alone is not sufficient to override the express language contained in *Simmons* signifying that the Court declined to expand the doctrine where there is no commonality between officers, directors, and shareholders.” *Id.* at 268, 818 S.E.2d at 454.⁸ The Supreme Court’s reasoning is well founded. “Although the mere continuation test is a high burden for a plaintiff to meet, it is intentionally so, as corporate law generally favors the free transfer of assets and disfavors successor liability.” *Id.* at 269, 818 S.E.2d at 454. The purpose of the mere continuation exception is “‘to prevent a change in legal obligations as a result of a transaction that is essentially a sham’ – that is, to impose liability on a successor company when the asset sale ‘is little more than a shuffling of corporate forms, lacking any fundamental change with independent significance.’” *Lane v. New Gencoat, Inc.*, No. 22-1121, 2023 WL 2888562, at *4 (4th Cir. Apr. 11, 2023) (quoting Phillip I. Blumberg, *The Continuity of the Enterprise Doctrine: Corporate Successorship in United States Law*, 10 Fla. J. Int’l L. 365, 371 (1996)). Simply carrying on a similar business following an asset purchase is insufficient to impose

⁸ Appellants rely on a single sentence in *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, stating “[w]hile there arguably may be merits to expanding South Carolina’s successor liability test to include the continuity of enterprise theory, that is not the question currently before the Court, nor is that the argument advanced by Respondents.” *Id.* at 267, 818 S.E.2d at 453. The sentence is dicta and cannot be construed as an endorsement of the continuity of enterprise doctrine.

successor liability.⁹

Despite setting an intentionally high burden, the Supreme Court also recognized that the rigid application of the mere continuation test might not always be appropriate.

We recognize the mere continuation test is a strict one, but we temper our holding by noting it is not completely inflexible. While commonality of ownership is a keystone of the analysis and almost always sufficient to establish mere continuation when paired with common directors and officers, we stress control is an essential consideration as well. Typically, ownership and control are found in tandem; however, there may be instances where directors or officers—lacking ownership—exert such control and influence over a corporation that their continued presence after a corporate acquisition is sufficient to establish successor liability.

Id. at 269, 818 S.E.2d at 454. Thus, contrary to what is argued by Appellants, South Carolina’s “successor liability doctrine affords protection for plaintiffs in those cases where a corporate sale is driven by a desire to escape the predecessor’s liabilities and obligations. Where the changing of corporate hats is tainted by such fraudulent intent, the successor corporation remains liable, even when the test for mere continuation is not otherwise satisfied.” *Id.* at 270, 818 S.E.2d at 454.

In summary, this case does not present a novel issue. The Supreme Court of South Carolina has declined to adopt the continuity of enterprise doctrine on multiple occasions in factually similar products liability cases. Successor liability under the “mere continuation” exception requires establishing commonality of officers, directors, *and* shareholders. That undisputedly does not

⁹ The legal and policy arguments in favor of the continuity of enterprise doctrine are without merit. See e.g., *Johnston v. Amsted Indus., Inc.*, 830 P.2d 1141, 1147 (Colo. App. 1992) (rejecting the continuity of enterprise doctrine because it (1) “defeats the legitimate expectations of the parties held during negotiation and sale” of the business; (2) “is inconsistent with the basic tenet of strict products liability that liability be imposed only on the manufacturer that manufactures or markets the product that caused the injury;” and (3) attempts to impose liability on “a successor corporation which had no control over products already in use, and which it neither marketed or manufactured.”); see also *Polius v. Clark Equip. Co.*, 802 F.2d 75, 75 (3d Cir. 1986) (“We conclude that this continuity of enterprise theory, adopted by a minority of jurisdictions, is an unsound exception to the general rule of corporate successor liability.”).

exist here. The current law fairly and effectively balances the need for the free transfer of assets while protecting against sham asset sales designed to avoid liability. Appellants' attempt to avoid well-settled and well-reasoned precedent fails.

A. Even Under The Test Proposed by Appellants, The Record Does Not Support Imposing Successor Liability Against Kelzenberg-Wumag.

Appellants ask this Court to apply the multi-factor continuity of enterprise framework set out in Justice Burnett's dissent in *Simmons*. Justice Burnett's proposed test examines:

(1) whether the successor, taking lawful advantage of the predecessor's accumulated goodwill and reputation, held itself out to the world as a continuation of the predecessor through continued use of the predecessor's corporate identity, trade names, advertising, or other intellectual property; (2) whether the successor continued to manufacture substantially the same product line as the predecessor, recognizing that manufacturing activity by its nature involves modification of product lines and elimination of unprofitable items; (3) whether the successor retained the predecessor's managers, employees, or sales force; (4) whether the successor continued to use the predecessor's equipment, supplier, dealer, or customer lists; (5) whether the successor assumed those liabilities and obligations of the predecessor ordinarily necessary for the continuation of normal business operations of the predecessor; and (6) whether the successor's officers, directors, or shareholders are substantially the same as the predecessor's.

Simmons, 366 S.C. 308, 323, 622 S.E.2d 213, 221 (2005) (J. Burnett, Dissenting). Even under this test, the evidence in the record does not support imposing liability against Kelzenberg-Wumag. After nearly five years of litigation, Appellants failed to conduct any discovery into Kelzenberg-Wumag's ongoing operations and failed to take a single deposition of any Kelzenberg-Wumag (or Wumag I) representative. The statements in Appellants' brief regarding Kelzenberg-Wumag's operations, product lines, equipment, computer software and employees are pure speculation. (*See* Appellants' Brief, *42). Had Appellants conducted discovery, it would have plainly revealed that Kelzenberg-Wumag is not a mere continuation of Wumag I's business.

Appellants' argument for successor liability is based on a press release issued in September 2019 (six years prior to the grant of summary judgment in favor of Kelzenberg-Wumag).

(Kelzenberg-Wumag Sept. 2019 Press Release; R. p. ____). Notwithstanding the lack of testimony and other evidence, the press release demonstrates that Kelzenberg-Wumag purchased Wumag I's assets in a legitimate, arm's-length transaction conducted through German insolvency proceedings. (*Id.*). The press release is clear that Kelzenberg-Wumag would operate as an independent company under new management. (*Id.*). While it references that certain employees would be retained, it also states that other employees would not remain with the company.¹⁰ (*Id.*). The press release is clear that the administrative operations of the company would be carried out by different management in an entirely different city. (*Id.*). The press release also highlights Kelzenberg-Wumag's plan to expand its market presence by manufacturing new products not previously made by Wumag I. (*Id.*). Finally, further demonstrating that Kelzenberg-Wumag's operations were not a mere continuation of the prior operations, the release requests patience from its customers during the transition period. (*Id.*).

"A product liability plaintiff seeking to hold a company liable based on a successor liability theory bears the burden of proving" an exception to the general rule applies. *Eagle Window & Door, Inc.*, 424 S.C. at 269, 818 S.E.2d at 454. The press release relied on by Appellants is insufficient to create a genuine issue of material fact, especially in light of the uncontested declaration demonstrating Kelzenberg-Wumag's independence from Wumag I. (*See generally* Hess Decl.; R. p. ____). Thus, even applying the test proposed by Appellants, they cannot meet their burden based on the evidence in this case.

III. Appellants' Claims Against Kelzenberg-Wumag Should be Dismissed for Insufficient Service of Process and Lack of Personal Jurisdiction.

Pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR, this Court may affirm the circuit court's decision on any grounds appearing in the Record on Appeal. Insufficient Service of Process and Lack of Personal

¹⁰ Kelzenberg-Wumag only retained approximately one-third of the employees of Wumag I.

Jurisdiction provide additional grounds to dismiss Appellants' claims against Kelzenberg-Wumag. (See Kelzenberg-Wumag's Motion for Summary Judgment; R. p. __ and Kelzenberg-Wumag's Memorandum in Support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, at * 6 – 16; R. p. __).

A. Appellants Did Not Properly Serve Kelzenberg-Wumag, and Their Claims Are Now Barred by the Statute of Limitations.

Appellants' only attempt to serve Kelzenberg-Wumag was through the South Carolina Secretary of State pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-245. Section 15-9-245(a) provides a means for service on a foreign corporation not authorized to do business in the State of South Carolina but that does, in fact, conduct business within the state. Under section 15-9-245(a), “[e]very foreign business or nonprofit corporation which is not authorized to do business in this State, ***by doing in this State, either itself or through an agent, any business***,...is considered to have designated the Secretary of State as its agent upon whom process against it may be served....” (emphasis added). The plain language of section 15-9-245 clearly provides that a foreign corporation must do business in South Carolina, “either itself or through an agent,” in order to be subject to service under the statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-245.

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